1. **ISSUES FOR REVIEW**

- 1. In a product liability action based on the risk-benefit test of *Barker v*. Lull Engineering (1978) 20 Cal.3d 413, under what circumstances is a defendant entitled to introduce evidence of industry standards or practices, or argue that such evidence is probative of the absence of excessive preventable danger in a product?
- 2. In a product liability action based on the risk-benefit test, may evidence of industry standards or practices be introduced by defendant on the premise it reflects industry research and experience bearing on safety, practicality, technical or financial feasibility?
- 3. Where a previously unknown evidentiary rule is announced on appeal, is it proper to affirm based upon appellant's failure to pose objections or instructions in conformity with that rule, or is a new trial required to allowing appellant to object pursuant to that rule?
- 4. Are drivers capable of forming reasonable expectations as to how a vehicle will behave in emergency maneuvers, and is a plaintiff therefore entitled to the consumer expectations test where it is alleged that a vehicle lacks a stability control system designed to conform the vehicle's behavior to the driver's expectations by reducing the risk of over- or under-steering?
- 5. In assessing the applicability of the consumer expectations test to vehicle stability, do the consumers' "reasonable expectations" of product behavior refer to expectations as to the vehicle's behavior, or expectations as to the behavior of stability control technology?

2. INTRODUCTION

Almost since the inception of strict products liability, the decisions have recognized that evidence of industry standards or customs is inappropriate since it shifts the jury's attention away from the objective features of the product and the relative benefits of alternative designs towards the manufacturer's behavior and hence a negligence standard: *i.e.*, the product must be safe because "everybody in the industry does it." The effect is not just to divert juror attention from risk/benefit factors, but to undermine product improvement by ratifying designs that are "no worse" than what others are doing, as well as the burden-shift function of product liability doctrine.

In the last decade, some cases have departed from this strict rule, suggesting that a defendant's reliance on industry standards is a legitimate consideration in risk-benefit cases. This Opinion, recognizing a split in authority, attempts to reconcile the cases by a "middle ground" which jettisons the heretofore strict preclusion of "reasonable manufacturer" evidence in favor of a "discretionary ruling" standard which, judging by the Opinion, allows it whenever it is arguably the result of industry research and experience – in other words, almost always.

This new standard – and the Opinion's view that the evidentiary divide between negligence and strict liability actions is outmoded – rests in part on confusion between true industry-standard evidence – the equivalent of "standard of care" evidence – and evidence of specific instances of competing designs which might demonstrate feasibility of a design or refute claims about cost-effectiveness, and which hence represent direct evidence of true *Barker* factors. The Opinion thus seeds confusion and undermines burden-shifting and safety enhancement for a completely illusory benefit.

The Opinion also illustrates uncertainty as to the application of the consumer expectations test in cases involving vehicle stability, and more generally where new technology is available to correct users' operation of a product or limit misuse by making the product behave more closely to what the user intends and expects. Contrary to most decisional law holding that consumers have reasonable expectations as to vehicle stability even in emergency situations, the Court of Appeal affirmed refusal to give the instruction because the devices which would have made the vehicle behave as the driver intended was relatively new, its operation was not a matter of common knowledge among consumers, and its effect required expert explication.

The Opinion thus holds that the relevant consumer expectation is not about the behavior of the vehicle but rather about the behavior of the electronic stability control system – of which consumers are naturally ignorant. This contradicts cases holding that the complexity of the design or the need for expert testimony as to causation is no barrier to the consumer expectations test, and that the ultimate test is whether the consumer may form a reasonable expectation as to the behavior of the product as an integrated whole.

3. SUMMARY OF THE CASE

This case presents a classic example of the ordinary driver who, faced with a sudden threat, tries to maneuver the vehicle back to the intended direction of travel. Since the 1990s, the automotive industry has had technology to assist drivers by correcting over-steer and under-steer (*i.e.*, vehicle failure to respond as expected to steering input) and traction slippage. That technology, known as Electronic Stability Control (ESC) or Vehicle Stability Control (VSC) – was standard on many vehicles by the late 1990's or early 2000's, and was ultimately

made mandatory by federal regulation on all vehicles under 10,000 pounds.

Toyota offered ESC on a passenger vehicle in 1995, and offered it in an option package with other devices in the 2004 and 2005 Tundras, despite the urging of its engineers that ESC be made standard immediately because of the dramatic reduction in accidents. Toyota offered it only as an option because few customers understood ESC, so it offered no marketing advantage.

William Kim was in his 2005 Tundra traveling north on Angeles Forest Highway when he was forced into an evasive swerve. As Kim descended the highway, he saw an on-coming SUV about a quarter of the way into his lane: he reacted by steering right. Feeling the right wheels on the gravel edge, he steered leftward back onto the lane, barely avoided collision. Kim fought the wheel to get back into his lane, then started to panic as the Tundra didn't respond. Reentering the roadway by a right steer as it entered a curve, the Tundra lost traction and went out of control

Witnesses traveling south or uphill saw the Tundra round a bend, apparently out of control as the back end came across the line slightly. It then seemed to straighten out and stabilize. A witness who saw the truck go off the highway in her rearview mirror was shocked because the skid had not looked severe and the driver deemed to have regained control.

Other witnesses had observed many other cars coming around the bend drift or wiggle but then straighten out, or pass by the acc8ident location like "a bunch of race cars." Those vehicles showed similar slippage or wiggle and then straightened out.

Plaintiffs' reconstruction expert calculated Kim's speed at the point of the earliest tire marks as 42 mph, with his speed around the curve a bit faster. Witness descriptions were consistent with this, and with Kim effectively catching the first clockwise yaw as he came around the corner by turning the wheel into the slide.

Automotive engineer Michael Gilbert described ESC as a system to correct for driver error in extraordinary maneuvers. ESC senses when tires start slipping or when the vehicle is in over-steer (e.g. fish-tailing) and corrects vehicle movement in situations which are counter-intuitive or beyond the capacity of the driver. In this case, when the back end started coming out, ESC would have detected the motion before the driver noticed and put brake input into the front wheels to keep the rear from sliding out. On wet pavement, ESC detects tire slippage and adjusts braking to eliminate oversteer and improve cornering. Because ESC takes into account both vehicle movement and driver input, it adjusts vehicle direction according to the driver's intent.

Gilbert said the instant accident presented the typical scenario in which the driver's reaction lags behind the vehicle motion: the driver who needs to steer into the slide will input too much steer by the time the rear end comes around, causing it to swing around in the other direction, as happened with Kim. ESC instantly adjusts to the driver's overreaction and calculates how fast the rear is coming back before rear tires begin slipping, so that the driver doesn't have to overcompensate. ESC practically eliminated spins in some vehicles and speed ranges and reduced single vehicle accidents from 30% for passenger cars to 88% for passenger trucks.

Automotive engineer Murat Okcuoglu testified that there was a working ESC system by 1993, and by 2000 the technology was fully mature and well understood. For a company like Toyota, the incremental cost of putting ESC on

the Tundra was \$300 to \$350 per vehicle.

Toyota's PMK on stability control Akira Nagae, had worked on development of VSC for cars and trucks from 1997 to 2003, with oversight for the 2004 and 2005 Tundra. ESC had been put on Toyota models in the Japanese market in 1995. Nagae said ESC was designed to suppress side sliding and support driver steering efforts so that the vehicle would go in the direction of the driver's input in unstable conditions, so that even an average driver would be able to handle the vehicle to recover its intended path.

A Toyota study found that ESC eliminated spin-outs and vastly reduced drift where drivers entered a curve at a speed beyond their driving ability, and was "obviously effective for ordinary drivers" in preventing spinning. It was effective in sudden movements or cornering in slippery conditions, with a 70% reduction in serious single car accidents. Nagae could identify no benefit from not having VSC on the Tundra, and said the "consensus" decision to make it optional was based on market conditions, user demand and the trend in competitors' vehicles.

Sandy Lobenstein, Corporate Manager for Product Planning with Toyota Motor Sales USA, testified that Toyota had ESC on the Lexus in the 1990's. As of 2001 it was on the Sequoia and the 4Runner SUV as standard equipment. It was standard in the Highlander SUV in 2004, and in the FJ Cruiser SUV in 2007. ESC was optional in the Tundra for 2004 to 2006 models, and became standard when the second generation Tundra appeared in 2007. The 2005 ESC option was available only as part of a package including traction control, brake assist, daytime running lights and limited slip differential, and retailed at about \$950.

Lobenstein recommended that ESC be optional for 2005-2007 model years,

disregarding the extent to which it enhanced safety and despite a recommendation by the engineering department in Japan that it immediately be made standard on the Tundra and Tacoma. His reason was lack of customer interest: less than 5% of customers chose ESC, though there was no evidence they understood the safety enhancement. "No one else had VSC at the time in a full-size truck, so we didn't have any expectations." (RT 3338:13-17)

Toyota accident reconstructionist Lee Carr testified that Kim was traveling at 45 to 50 mph, that the combination of speed and road moisture led to control problems leading Kim to skid off the roadway; that the Tundra had features that would have prevented the accident had Kim used them, and that even with ESC, he still would have gone off the cliff given his control commands. Carr asserted that the fundamental cause was Kim's inappropriate steer to the left; that ESC would not rescue a driver from an irreparable situation; and that the narrowness of the roadway and unimproved shoulder made the accident curve an "unforgiving" area for high-speed accidents.

The jury was given defendant's proposed verdict form, on which the initial question was "Did the Toyota Tundra contain a design defect when it left Toyota's possession?" (App. 554) The second question asked if the defect was a substantial factor in causing the accident, and the remainder dealt with comparative fault and damages. (App. 554-557) The jury answered only the first question, in the negative. (App. 554)

Plaintiffs moved for new trial on grounds of errors in instructions, admission of "industry standard" evidence, prejudicial termination of rebuttal argument, and other grounds. (App. 569-631) The motion was denied. (App. 808)

4. REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO RECONCILE CONFLICTING DECISIONS REGARDING ADMISSIBILITY OF "INDUSTRY STANDARD" EVIDENCE IN RISK/BENEFIT CASES

Plaintiffs' motion *in limine* 4 sought to preclude argument or testimony comparing the Tundra's performance to competing vehicles lacking ESC, or suggesting that the Tundra was not defective because it was equivalent or superior to competing models. (App. 84-92) Motion *in limine* 9 sought to foreclose any claim that compliance with Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards (FMVSS) satisfied Toyota's design obligations or demonstrated the subject vehicle was safe for its intended use. (App. 410-420) The court denied both motions. (RT 312)

The Court also refused plaintiffs' special instructions 19, 20, 21 and 22 (App. 545-548) which advised the jury that industry and federal motor vehicle standards did not demonstrate that the product was not defective, and that the jury must follow the risk-benefit test as set forth in the instructions rather than evidence of industry standards or compliance with federal standards. (RT 4218:19-21)

Toyota never offered a technical reason not to make ESC standard in every vehicle, nor denied it extraordinary benefit in emergency maneuvers. Rather, it argued that no federal regulation required ESC, that Toyota was the "industry leader," and that since no other manufacturer had made ESC standard on light trucks, the Tundra met or exceeded industry standards.

Well, we know that the truck could be driven safely at even higher speed based on the testing of Mr. Carr. But we also know that no pickups had standard VSC in 2005. We also know that no pickups had VSC in any way before that, before 2004. So we know that

literally hundreds, if not thousands of pickups, Toyota, Ford, G.M.'s, and other types of vehicles without VSC have driven that stretch of road countless times over the last 10 years.

But Toyota did what none of the other big three pickup makers did in 2005. They gave the customer the choice. They made it optional equipment. That black Ford F150 that Mr. Herzog has got there, if it's a 2005, it's defective. If you believe the plaintiffs' position in this case, that 2000 Ford F150 is defective because it doesn't have standard V.S.C. It doesn't even have optional V.S.C. available. Toyota gave customers the choice.

. . . .

But what the plaintiffs would have you do in this case is force standard VSC on all vehicles back in 2004/2005 time period. Well, that's something the government has done after considerable study in model year 2013.

The plaintiffs would have you penalize Toyota for making it an option and then for putting it in standard six years ahead of when the government said it was required. That is not fair and that's not justice.

[RT 4507-4510]

Tundra is a safe pickup with or without VSC. Excellent scores in the new car assessment program that's done by the NHTSA. . . The International Institute for Highway Safety, which is a private organization, sort of a watchdog organization that does all sorts of testing on vehicles. Tundra was rated best in its test. J.D. Power, customer satisfaction and

reliability. Consumer Reports, if any of you seen consumer reports, they love to do hatchet jobs on vehicles. They love to criticize vehicles. Consumer Reports said it was the best pickup in its class. It complied with all Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards and there are a bunch of them. You've only heard about maybe one or two is the new standard. That doesn't take effect until 2013, but it complied with all the other standards.

[RT 4517-4518]

[101 1317 1310]

Toyota did *not* argue that the increased risk posed by the absence of ESC was outweighed by cost or any design benefit.

A. The Cases Are in Disarray Concerning the Admissibility of Industry Standard Evidence in a Risk/Benefit Case

As the Opinion observes, most cases have strictly prohibited "industry standard" evidence in products cases. *Grimshaw v. Ford Motor Co.* (1981) 119 Cal.App.3d 757, 803; *Foglio v. Western Auto* Supply (1976) 56 Cal.App.3d 470, 477; *Heap v. General Motors Corp.* (1977) 66 Cal.App.3d 824, 831; *Titus v. Bethlehem Steel Corp.* (1979) 91 Cal.App.3d 372; *McLaughlin v. Sikorsky Aircraft* (1983) 148 Cal.App.3d 203, *Buell-Wilson v. Ford Motor Co.* (2006) 141 Cal.App.4th 525, 545. These cases regard "industry standard" evidence as inconsistent with the risk/benefit test's focus on technical feasibility, cost, alternative designs, etc. – not on what other manufacturers are doing. 1 Witkin, *Cal. Evidence 5th* "Circumstantial Evidence" §111; 6 Witkin, *Summary Cal. Law* 10th "Torts" §1456. As 50A *Cal.Jur.3d* "Products Liability" §123 states:

Admission of evidence that manufacturer met industry customs or standards on safety is reversible error in products liability actions; issue is not whether manufacturer exercised reasonable care, but whether the product fails to perform as the ordinary consumer would expect.

Grimshaw summarizes:

The *Barker* court's enumeration of factors which may be considered under the risk-benefit test not only fails to mention custom or usage in the industry, the court otherwise makes clear by implication that they are inappropriate considerations.

[Grimshaw, supra, 119 Cal.App.3d at 803]

Conflicting cases include *O'Neill v. Novartis Consumer Health, Inc.* (2007) 147 Cal.App.4th 1388, and *Howard v. Omni Hotels Mgmt. Corp.* (2012) 203 Cal.App.4th 403, 426. *Howard* reviewed a summary judgment in a strict liability and negligence case where plaintiff had framed his case in terms of due care and both sides offered "industry standard" evidence, mainly ASTM standards for friction coefficients. The decision is ambivalent about how that evidence actually bears on alternative design or on "whether the product's design is an acceptable compromise of competing considerations."

... Howard has brought not only the "issue of whether the product failed to perform as the ordinary consumer would expect" before the court, but also design defect and due care issues, since his expert discussed them and all theories were pursued against Kohler. (*Buell–Wilson, supra*, 141 Cal.App.4th 525, 545.) Thus, Kohler's reliance on industry standards is a factor

legitimately to be considered in the summary judgment proceedings. Properly read, the rule that a manufacturer is not entitled to a complete defense that it complied with industry standards applies to negligence cases and also, to some extent, applies to product liability cases. (Compare 50A *Cal.Jur.3d*, "Products Liability," §§90, pp. 676–677, on federal preemption issues ["The California courts of appeal have split on the issue of whether a manufacturer's compliance with federal motor vehicle safety standards, as set by the National Traffic and Motor Vehicle Safety Act, is a defense in a products liability action."].)
[*Id.* 425]

Howard cites the rule against industry standard evidence stated in Buell-Wilson: "[A] manufacturer cannot defend a product liability action with evidence it met its industry's customs or standards on safety." Yet Howard held that the admission of industry standard evidence in the case at bar was "not inconsistent with" Buell-Wilson's statement, concluding that such evidence "should be taken into account through expert testimony as part of the design defect balancing process." (Id. 426)

O'Neill, supra, 147 Cal.App.4th 1388, involves FDA standards for pharmaceutical manufacturing, not an "industry norm" employed to show that the product was no worse than others on the market, and is *sui generis* given the unique role of the FDA as described in *Ramirez v. Plough* (1993) 6 Cal.4th 539, 556, which acknowledged that there is room for a compliance defense in such cases "where the evidence shows only the ordinary situation contemplated by the statute or administrative rule." (*Id.* 547–548)

The instant Opinion attempts a "middle ground," further confusing the

issue. It asserts that industry standards may be the result of research or reflect practical experience in balancing safety, feasibility, cost and functionality. (Opinion 13) It concedes that probative value for such purposes is debatable, "but that does not make it inadmissible."

Evidence of compliance with industry custom may tend to show that a product is safe for its foreseeable uses, while evidence of noncompliance with industry custom may tend to show that a product is unsafe for its foreseeable uses.

[Opinion 14]

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