Case No. S232754

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

---

WILLIAM JAE KIM, et al.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

vs.

TOYOTA MOTOR CORPORATION, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

---

Second District Court of Appeal No. B247672  
Los Angeles County Superior Court  
The Honorable Raul A. Sahagun  
Civil Case No. BC VC059206

---

SUPREME COURT  
FILED

MAR 21 2016

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

**ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW**

---

Patrick Rogan (SBN 54428)  
roganpatrick@yahoo.com  
20406 Seaboard Rd.  
Malibu, CA 90265  
+1.310.795.5214

\*Robert A. Brundage (SBN 159890)  
robert.brundage@morganlewis.com  
Nicolette L. Young (SBN 280810)  
nicolette.young@morganlewis.com

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

Plaintiffs' causation evidence was weak.

**1. Papelis' Generic Simulations Showing It Was More Likely Than Not That ESC Would *Not* Prevent A Given Accident.**

Plaintiffs relied on simulations done for another purpose by computer engineer Papelis. In his simulations and the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration's figures, ESC reduced "loss of control by approximately 28 or 30 percent." Op.-29; DPR-12; RT-VI-2477. Thus, ESC prevents *less than half* of losses of control. Papelis provided no sound reason to think this accident would fall in that minority. He nevertheless opined based on his simulations that "if this vehicle had ESC, we just wouldn't be here today." Op.-4; RT-VI-2487.

Both sides' experts agreed that such simulations are not a sound basis for a causation opinion. For a simulator to accurately represent a vehicle's ESC response, it must match the particular vehicle – including its suspension, size, weight, track width, electronic throttle control, sensors, ESC algorithm, and tires. DPR-13; RT-VI-2566-68, VI-2572-74. Papelis'

simulations were of a Ford SUV and Olds sedan with new tires – not Kim’s Tundra with worn tires. DPR-13; RT-VI-2513, VI-2602. He did not simulate this curve with a 7% grade or water flowing on the roadway. DPR-13; RT-VI-2513, VI-2575. Papelis had never heard of anyone “relying on any generic simulation ... to express an opinion regarding the outcome of a specific accident”; that was not his simulations’ “intent.” DPR-12-13; RT-VI-2559-60.

Plaintiffs’ ESC expert Gilbert did not “like simulations” because computers cannot properly “capture every variable.” DPR-13; RT-V-2252.

Toyota’s human-factors expert testified that applying simulations “to one particular instance at one particular time” is “far beyond what the science will allow.” DPR-13; RT-VIII-3445, VIII-3448.

## **2. Gilbert’s Speculation About Four Steers and a Phantom Driver With “No Evidence.”**

Plaintiffs’ ESC expert Gilbert also opined that ESC would have averted this accident. Op.-4; RT-V-2146. Gilbert, however, relied on incorrect assumptions. He assumed Kim swerved to avoid an encroaching SUV preceding the Archers, witnesses driving the opposite way. DPR-13; RT-III-1536, III-1590-91, V-2148-51. But plaintiffs’ reconstructionist found no physical evidence of such a car, the Archers did not see another vehicle, and Kim saw only one oncoming vehicle – necessarily the Archers. DPR-13; RT-III-1554-1555, IV-1884-85; X-3964-3975.

Gilbert also assumed Kim steered *four* times: “right, then left, then right, then left.” DPR-13; RT-V-2149. Both sides’ reconstructionists, however, found “evidence only of two steers.” DPR-13-14; RT-IX-3740; IV-1891. Kim only described two or three steers. Op. 2-3; DPR-13-14; RT-X-3967-70.

### **3. Toyota’s Actual Testing of ESC.**

Toyota’s reconstructionist and ESC expert, Carr, tested two 2005 Tundras identical to Kim’s vehicle and each other, one with ESC and one without. DPR-14; RT-IX-3758-61. He tested them on both a wet surface and one with water accumulated. DPR-14; RT-IX-3762. ESC did not make a difference in either scenario.

On the “wet” roadway, even without ESC, the Tundra would not spin even with extreme steering or brakes and even well above Kim’s speed. DPR-14; RT-IX-3764-67. Even “turning the steering wheel and slamming on the brakes won’t make it spin.” DPR-7-8; RT-IX-3781.

On the surface with accumulated water, the Tundra spun with or without ESC. DPR-14. Without ESC, at speeds in the mid-40 mph, it “start[ed] to slide.” DPR-7-8, 14; RT-IX-3769. At higher speeds, “you cannot control the vehicle” because “there isn’t enough ... traction.” DPR-7-8, 14; RT-IX-3770-71. To spin the Tundra, he had to travel 47 mph and make quick linked turns “right on top of one another.” DPR-7-8, 14; RT-IX-3772-73.

With ESC, at 49 mph he went “across the center line.” DPR-7-8, 14; RT-IX-3773; Exhibit 29, RA 001. When he turned the wheel, the vehicle did not initially respond; it then shot to the right when it slowed and regained traction. DPR-7-8, 14; RT-IX-3774. Then it kept “going to the right even though I turn the wheel ... back to the left.” DPR-7-8, 14; RT-IX-3775. He concluded, “there won’t be enough traction with worn front tires, a slippery road, and that travel speed for V.S.C. to change your path quickly enough to keep you from going across the center.” DPR-7-8, 14; RT-IX-3774. “[W]ith or without V.S.C. ... you are still going to go off the cliff.” Op.-5; RT-IX-3777.

In terms of this accident, when Kim turned to the left to reenter the road, ESC would have helped it go left. Op.-5; RT-IX-3757. Kim’s vehicle would have gone left “extremely quickly,” crossed the roadway and gone off the cliff in about one second. Op.-5; RT-IX-3757.

## **E. Trial-Court Proceedings**

### **1. Plaintiffs’ Motion in Limine.**

Before trial, plaintiffs moved in limine to exclude any evidence comparing the Tundra’s design to its competitors’ and argument that the design was not defective because it was equivalent or superior to the competitors’. Op.-3-4; AA-I-84-92; RT-II-310-12. Before the court ruled, plaintiffs told the court that Toyota’s SUVs all had ESC by 2001, SUVs are “like trucks,” and Toyota did not put ESC on trucks “because their

competitors didn't do it." Op.-19; RT-II-310. Perhaps realizing that his own argument relied on evidence of other vehicles, counsel for plaintiffs said "what I'm asking for is that if and when this evidence is received, it be for a limiting instruction as to a reason why it's being offered." Op.-24; RT-II-311. The Court accordingly denied the motion in limine and invited him to propose a limiting instruction. Op.-24; RT-II-312. Plaintiffs never proposed one. Op.-24.

## 2. Trial

Plaintiffs told the jury in opening statement that Toyota made ESC standard on its SUVs, understood that SUVs and pickups have similar "controllability problems," intended to make ESC standard on 2005 trucks until it learned that Ford was not going to, and did not put ESC on its trucks because competitors weren't doing it. Op.-19; RT-II-1235-36, II-1238, II-1243.

To try to prove this, in their case-in-chief, plaintiffs introduced evidence that Toyota made ESC standard on all its SUVs by 2004. Op 5, 22; RT-VIII-3307, VIII-3338-39, VIII-3355-56. They also introduced evidence that Toyota's competitors did not have ESC on their pickups. Plaintiffs called Toyota Motor Sales' manager of product planning, Sandy Lobenstein, as an adverse witness, and asked him about Toyota's understanding of its competitor's design:

*Q. You understood, did you not, that ... Ford in year 2000*

*announced that all SUV and pickups would have their version of E.S.C. by model year 2005; right?*

A. I don't recall that announcement by Ford. I do know that at the time of this discussion, no other full-size pickup had V.S.C. except Tundra.

DPR-10; RT-VIII-3328.

Plaintiffs' counsel continued:

Q: Was there any surprise to you that the take rate on VSC was so low ...?

A: No other full-size pickup was offering VSC at the time, so

Q: I know that's your mantra. *You want to talk about competitors. I'll ask you about that in just a second.*

[Sustained objection]

A: No one else had VSC at the time in a full-size truck, so we didn't have any expectations. We made the option available to consumers and we wanted to see what the demand was. So I don't believe that I was surprised at the take rate at the time.

Q: Okay. So you are saying that *because Ford and Dodge weren't offering VSC, you didn't want to lose your competitive advantage by incurring the extra cost for VSC even though your engineers were telling you to do so?*

A: We were trying to make a vehicle, produce a vehicle that met the customer's needs based on price, based on future availability, and at the time we felt like optional VSC was the best decision.

Q: [Y]ou omitted what [Toyota] is telling you, the safety features that they thought to be standard, *because your competitors were likewise omitting it?*

A: We studied what our competitors had and we studied what our customers wanted, and we made the feature available as an option so if somebody wanted it, they could have it.



Op.-21-22; RT-VIII-3338-40 (emphasis added). Plaintiffs' counsel

kept at it:

Q. ... [B]ecause none of your competitors did and V.S.C. wouldn't drive sales, you decided to make it optional rather than standard; is that right?

[Sustained objection]

Q.... Well, *your competitors weren't doing it*; right?

A. Competitors on full-size pickups were not offering V.S.C.

Op.-21-22; RT-VIII-3356 (emphasis added).

Counsel did not object to his own questions, move to strike the answers, or request a limiting instruction. Op.-21-22.

After plaintiffs' counsel questioned Lobenstein, Toyota elicited that in 2005 no other pickups had standard ESC and the Tundra was the first full-sized pickup to offer it as an option. Op.-23-24, RT-VIII-3403-04. The questions were asked in connection with showing why new safety technologies are phased in, first as an option and then as standard equipment. Op.-23-24, n.10; RT-VIII-3403-04. Plaintiffs' counsel did not object, move to strike, or request a limiting instruction. Op.-24.

### 3. Jury Instructions

The jury was instructed on the risk/benefit test for design defect under *Barker v. Lull Engineering Co.* (1978) 20 Cal.3d 413, 430. Under this test, it was told that plaintiffs had the burden to prove that defendants sold the Tundra, that plaintiffs were harmed, and that "the Tundra's design

was a substantial [factor] in causing harm to plaintiff.” Op.-6; DPR-10; RT-X-4242. “If plaintiffs have proved these three facts, then your decision on this claim must be for plaintiffs unless defendants proved that the benefits of the Tundras design outweigh the risk of the design.” DPR-10; RT-X-4242. In assessing whether Toyota carried its burden, the jury was instructed to consider the five *Barker* risk/benefit factors. Op.-6; DPR-10-11; RT-X-4242-43. Plaintiffs’ counsel emphasized in closing that this instruction, including plaintiffs’ initial burden to prove the design caused their harm, was “the definition of defective design.” DPR-11; RT-X-4289-90.

Plaintiffs proposed an instruction on the consumer-expectation test for design defect. Op.-6; AA I-155. Plaintiffs conceded that “consumers don’t have any idea with regard to what is electronic-stability control.” DPR-11; RT-X-4027, X-4032; pp. 27-28 below. After the evidence was in, the court refused the instruction. Op.-6; RT-X-4201.

#### **4. Verdict and Judgment.**

The jury deliberated only three hours, unanimously finding that the Tundra contained no design defect. Op.-6; DPR-14-15; RT-XI-4578, XI-4580-84; AA-III-550.

#### **F. Appeal**

The Court of Appeal affirmed the judgment.

**G. Petitions for Rehearing**

Both sides petitioned for rehearing, though plaintiffs neglect to mention it. *See* Cal. R. Ct. 8.504(b)(3). Defendants' petition for rehearing ("DPR") agreed with the outcome, but pointed out omissions and perceived misstatements to preserve them under Rule of Court 8.500(c)(2). Besides correcting an error in counsel listing, both petitions were denied.

**III. REVIEW IS UNWARRANTED**

**A. Admissibility of Industry-Standard Evidence Does Not Warrant Review, And This Case Would Be A Poor Vehicle.**

Plaintiffs try to interest the Court in a supposed conflict over admissibility of "industry standards or practices" in a risk/benefit case. Pet.-1, 8-17. The conflict is illusory, and is not presented by this case.

Plaintiffs' petition argues that evidence that competitors used a similar design – what plaintiffs call "industry standard" evidence – is not relevant or admissible to show that a product is not defective. The Opinion creates no conflict on that issue. It *agrees* that the evidence was not admissible for that purpose. Op.-19. It holds the evidence relevant and admissible for unremarkable reasons that plaintiffs mostly ignore, create no conflict, and are of no general interest.

**1. The Opinion Affirmed Admission Of Evidence That Other Pickups Lacked ESC For Unremarkable, Case-Specific Reasons.**

The Opinion held that evidence that no other 2005 pickup had ESC

was *not* relevant or admissible to show that the Tundra was not defective because its design was similar to other vehicles’:

Toyota also argues that evidence that the pickup trucks of its competitors did not have ESC was relevant ... because “[i]f the Tundra was defective because it lacked ESC, then every other pickup in 2005 was defective,” which “made [the Kims’] claims of danger less credible.” This is actually a prime example of when industry custom and practice *would not be admissible*. *The fact that all of the manufacturers in an industry make the product the same way is not relevant because it does not tend to prove the product is not dangerous: All manufacturers may be producing an unsafe product.*

Op.-19.<sup>2</sup>

The Opinion affirmed admission for unremarkable reasons plaintiffs mostly do not address. It held that “evidence about pickup trucks manufactured by [Toyota’s] competitors was relevant to rebut some of the Kims’ arguments.” Op.-19. There was nothing radical about that.

“Rebuttal evidence is relevant and thus admissible if it ‘tend[s] to disprove a fact of consequence on which the [adversary] has introduced evidence.’”

*People v. Nunez* (2013) 57 Cal.4th 1, 27 (quoting *People v. Clark* (2011) 52 Cal.4th 856, 936). That is this case. Plaintiffs argued that Toyota made ESC standard on SUVs, supposedly understood pickups were like SUVs,

---

<sup>2</sup> The Court of Appeal’s reasoning that all manufacturers may be producing an unsafe product overlooks the evidence. Plaintiffs’ design expert did *not* think all vehicles without ESC were dangerous. *See* DPT-8; RT-V-2231. Regardless, this passage makes clear that the published opinion does *not* authorize trial courts to admit evidence that other products are made the same way to show that defendant’s product is not dangerous.

therefore understood pickups needed ESC, but did not make ESC standard because its competitors didn't. Pp. 8-11 above. That vehicles *even more similar to the Tundra* (other pickups) did not have ESC tended to rebut that inference.

The Opinion also explained that most of the evidence about competing vehicles was elicited by *plaintiffs* and was relevant to *plaintiffs'* theory of the case. Op.-21-23. It held that plaintiffs' questions to Lobenstein, eliciting that no other full-size pickup had ESC and asking whether Toyota did not include ESC because competitors were not offering it (Part II.E.2 above), "were proper and sought information that was relevant" to plaintiffs' claim; because plaintiffs' questions "were designed to show that Toyota was making VSC optional on its trucks, rather than standard as the engineers had suggested, because Toyota's competitors were not making VSC standard" and to try to "show the jury that Toyota was ignoring the advice of its engineers and putting profit over safety." Op.- 22-23. They elicited this evidence before Toyota introduced it. *See* RT-VIII-3328, VIII-3338-40, 3356 (plaintiffs' questioning), RT-VIII-3403-04 (Toyota's questioning).

The questions and answers about competitors elicited by Toyota simply brought out again that no other 2005 pickup had ESC standard and the Tundra was the first to offer it optionally. Op.-23. The Opinion suggested they were relevant for an additional reason. Toyota elicited that

in 2005 no other pickups had standard ESC and the Tundra was the first full-sized pickup to offer it as an option. Op.-23-24. The questions were asked in connection with showing why new safety technologies are phased in, first as an option and then as standard equipment. Op.-24. The Opinion explained that the advantages of such phase-in are relevant to the risk/benefit analysis. Op.-24 n.10. Plaintiffs' petition does not dispute that.

The Opinion also made clear that plaintiffs had not preserved any objections. Plaintiffs did not object to their own questions or Toyota's questions, move to strike the answers, or request a limiting instruction. Op.-22-24. Though their motion in limine had claimed that comparison to other vehicles was flatly inadmissible (AA-87), at the hearing on their motion they told the judge "what I'm asking for" was a limiting instruction; the judge invited them to propose one; they never did. Pp. 8-9 above. Plaintiffs' failure to object or request a limiting instruction precluded their claims of error: "In the absence of a specific objection or a request for a limiting instruction, we cannot conclude that the court erred by admitting Lobenstein's testimony." Op.-24; *see* Op.-24-25 (similar).

## **2. The Opinion's Reasons For Finding No Error Do Not Conflict With Other Opinions.**

These reasons for finding no error do not conflict with the cases cited in plaintiffs' petition.

Plaintiffs incorrectly say "most cases have strictly prohibited

‘industry standard’ evidence in products cases.” Pet.-10. Not so.

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